FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

1/17/2019 3:39 PM

96763-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 35272-2-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JOHN MARTIN MALING, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519
Two Arrows, PLLC
8220 W. Gage Blvd. #789
Kennewick, WA 99336
Tel: (509) 572-2409
Email: Andrea@2arrows.net

Email: Andrea@2arrows.net Attorney for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John Martin Maling requests that this court accept review of the decision designated in Part II of this petition.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioner seeks review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals filed on December 18, 2018, holding that the State is not required to provide the defendant prior notice of a motion to release the defendant solely for the purpose of preventing the time for trial expiring. A copy of the Court of Appeals' published opinion is attached hereto.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The State forgot it had jailed Mr. Maling before trial. Late in the afternoon on the last day of the CrR 3.3 speedy trial period, the State took ex parte action to place Maling's case on the docket at 3:30 p.m. As it happened, Maling's attorney was in the courthouse on another matter and was orally advised of the hearing about one hour before it began.

Acknowledging that the case was "a mess" and with no indication in the record that a jury could be summoned and trial commenced at that point in the day, the State moved for Maling's release for the sole purpose of extending the time for trial. Maling's counsel objected to the lack of

notice and the Court of Appeals affirmed Maling's subsequent conviction, holding that the State needed not comply with the "technical requirements" to provide advance notice of the hearing to Maling and his attorney. One judge dissented, concluding that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to enforce CrR 8.2 and CR 7(b)(1)'s notice requirements before entertaining the State's motion for release. Maling now seeks review of the following issues:

- Whether, when CrR 8.2 requires parties in criminal cases to bring
 motions in accordance with the notice requirements of CR 7(b)(1),
 an unwritten exception exists that allows motions from the State to
 release a defendant to prevent the time for trial expiring to be
 brought without any prior notice;
- 2. Whether, when CrR 3.3 does not define a "day" for purposes of determining when the final day for trial has expired, Maling's time for trial had already expired by the time of the hearing in the late afternoon on the final day when it was uncontested that the case could not then have proceeded to trial; and
- Whether State v. Chavez-Romero, 170 Wn. App. 568, 285 P.3d
 195 (2012) and State v. Kelly, 60 Wn. App. 921, 808 P.2d 1150
 (1991), holding that a trial court may release a defendant for the sole purpose of preventing the speedy trial from expiring despite

the lack of any change in circumstances required to amend a pretrial detention order under CrR 3.2, are wrongly decided and should be overruled.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Maling faced three counts of possessing a controlled substance with intent to deliver it. CP 4. After he failed to appear at a pretrial hearing and a warrant was issued, he was arrested and brought back before the court, at which time the parties acknowledged that the time for trial was reset and would expire in sixty days. RP (Arraignment, Hearing, Trial Confirmation) at 4.

The State then forgot that it had jailed him. After being alerted to this fact by an unidentified third-party, the State "added Mr. Maling's case to the court's afternoon docket for a hearing." *Opinion*, at 3. The record does not reflect how the State caused this to occur. By happenstance, Maling's attorney was nearby on another matter and the State "caught [him] in the hallway across the street and mentioned it – that this [hearing] was happening." RP (Arraignment, Hearing, Trial Confirmation) at 8-9. His attorney objected to proceeding with the hearing based upon the lack of notice. CP 18.

Despite Maling's objection and the State's concession that the case was "a mess," at approximately 3:30 p.m. on the last day of the speedy trial period, the trial court entertained motions from the State to either continue the trial date or release Maling from custody to extend the time for trial an additional 30 days. RP (Arraignment, Hearing, Trial Confirmation) at 9-10; *Opinion*, at 3. Observing that omnibus requirements had not been satisfied and that trial could not realistically commence within the next two weeks, Maling opposed the continuance request and asked for the case to be dismissed. RP (Arraignment, Hearing, Trial Confirmation) at 11. Maling also contended that the speedy trial clock had already expired, and the State argued it would not expire for another hour and 47 minutes, presumably referring to the time the court closed for business. RP (Arraignment, Hearing, Trial Confirmation) at 12.

When it appeared that the court would not grant its request to continue the trial date, the State requested Maling's release, stating,

I'm not asking to impose the cure period. If you're not going to grant a continuance so we can get this moved, then the state would be asking to release him, which would change his speedy trial period from 60 to 90 days.

RP (Arraignment, Hearing, Trial Confirmation) at 12. The State did not acknowledge or address any of the release factors set forth in CrR 3.2(a),

and did not make any argument that Maling's circumstances were changed such that pretrial incarceration was no longer necessary under CrR 3.2(j) or (k). The trial court ordered Maling released, and subsequently denied his motion to dismiss for violation of the speedy trial rule. RP (Arraignment, Hearing, Trial Confirmation) at 12; *Opinion*, at 4.

On appeal, Maling contended that the trial court erred in entertaining the State's motions when they were brought without providing adequate notice to Maling or his attorney. *Appellant's Brief*, at 6. Observing that multiple provisions of the criminal rules require motions to be made in writing and served no less than five days before the scheduled hearing, and that nothing in CrR 3.2 established an exception to these requirements, Maling contended the motion was not properly before the court and because it could not have been properly brought before the time for trial expired, his motion to dismiss for violation of the speedy trial rule should have been granted. *Appellant's Brief*, at 6-7.

The Court of Appeals disagreed, dismissing the notice requirements of CrR 8.2 as a mere "technical objection." *Opinion*, at 5. Reasoning that because the trial court holds the ultimate responsibility for enforcing Maling's speedy trial deadline, the State's actions in bringing Maling before the court with no prior notice to him or his attorney were

appropriate. *Opinion*, at 6. One judge dissented, agreeing with Maling that the State's failure to comply with the notice and motion requirements of CrR 8.1 and 8.2 deprived the court of jurisdiction to enter the order releasing Maling. *Dissenting Opinion*, at 8. Observing that "improper notice implicates fundamental principles of justice and due process," the dissenting judge castigated the majority's dismissal of the notice requirements as merely technical, stating,

A party and his or her attorney should not be burdened with responding to an important motion by notification to the attorney one hour in advance when the attorney walks the halls of the courthouse in order to attend to other clients and other cases.

Dissenting Opinion, at 9-10.

Both the majority and the dissenting judge assumed that the State could properly request Maling's release for the sole purpose of preventing the time for trial expiring and without any consideration of the CrR 3.2 release factors, relying upon *State v. Chavez-Romero*, 170 Wn. App. 568, 285 P.3d 195 (2012), *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013) and *State v. Kelly*, 60 Wn. App. 921, 808 P.2d 1150 (1991). *Opinion*, at 6; *Dissenting Opinion*, at 4. Neither the majority nor the dissenting judge (who agreed with Maling on other grounds) addressed Maling's argument that the final "day" for trial expired when Maling's case could no longer have been

called for trial and a jury venire empaneled for that day, not when the courthouse closed. *Appellant's Brief*, at 9-11; *Dissenting Opinion*, at 12.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), review will be accepted if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. This case, which establishes as precedent that notice to the defense is a mere technicality that can be disregarded when the State's negligence brings a case to the brink of the speedy trial deadline, presents such issues.

Court rules must be construed "to foster the purposes for which they were enacted." *State v. Greenwood*, 120 Wn.2d 585, 593, 845 P.2d 971 (1993). The purpose of the speedy trial rule is to give the defendant a prompt trial once prosecution is initiated. *State v. Carson*, 128 Wn.2d 805, 815, 912 P.2d 1016 (1996). By establishing different time-for-trial periods for defendants who are detained pretrial and those who are released, the rule acknowledges that the loss of liberty occasioned by delay in bringing a case to trial is significant. *See* CrR 3.3(b). Accordingly, the rule requires greater diligence by the State to try the case promptly when the defendant has been incarcerated without being convicted of a crime.

That the penalty for failing to comply with the speedy trial rule is harsh – dismissal with prejudice of the charge – underscores the importance of proceeding diligently. See CrR 3.3(h). However, the rule acknowledges the realities of case and court administration, providing multiple exceptions to and exclusions from the applicable time limits. CrR 3.3(e) (excluding various proceedings as well as unforeseen circumstances from the time calculation); (f) (permitting continuance of the trial date "when such continuance is required in the administration of justice" and the defense will not be prejudiced); (b)(5) (extending the allowable time for trial 30 days beyond the end of any excluded period); (c)(2) (restarting the time for trial calculation due to certain significant actions in the case or when the defendant's failure to appear at a required hearing occasions the ensuing delay). Indeed, the rule even contemplates that overlooking the trial deadline can be cured, so long as the oversight is promptly addressed and corrected by initiating the trial shortly afterward. CrR 3.3(g). Thus, while the remedy for a violation is harsh, the rule fully contemplates necessary delays and offers the State ample opportunities to extend the time for trial to accommodate the demands of the case, the schedules of parties and witnesses, and emergent circumstances.

However, the rule provides no exception to the State's obligation to give due notice of proceedings in the case merely because the time for trial is close to expiring. Those obligations, established in CrR 8.1 and 8.2, as well as the civil rules they incorporate, require motions to be made in writing with no less than five days' notice to the opposing party.

Dissenting Opinion, at 5-7. There is no dispute that the procedure employed in this case, in which the State unilaterally placed the matter on the docket the same day and fortuitously located defense counsel nearby to verbally give him approximately one hour's notice of the hearing, did not comply with these rules.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals' published opinion dismisses

CrR 8.1 and 8.2 as mere procedural technicalities, which the court's duty
to enforce the speedy trial rule implicitly allows it to disregard. *Opinion*,
at 2, 5. This position, and its precedential effect, are deeply troubling. As
observed by the dissenting judge, the requirement that a defendant receive
advance notice of the State's proposal for action in a case is inherent in the
obligation to afford him due process of law. *Dissenting Opinion*, at 8-10.
Moreover, the interpretation adopted by the majority is not limited in
language or in logic to motions relating to the speedy trial rule, but
effectively allows the State¹ to bypass written motion and notice

¹ Additionally, because it is unclear what process the State employed to unilaterally place the matter on the court's docket on short notice, it cannot be ascertained whether the same opportunity would be afforded the defense.

requirements entirely by unilaterally calendaring the defendant's case for an unspecified hearing, and then presenting its motions orally. *See Opinion*, at 6; *Dissenting Opinion*, at 5-6. This reading renders CrR 8.1 and 8.2 nullities, contrary to well-established principles of interpretation that rulemaking bodies do not engage in unnecessary or meaningless acts. *See John H. Sellen Const. Co. v. Dept. of Revenue*, 87 Wn.2d 878, 883, 558 P.2d 1342 (1976) ("By interpretation we should not nullify any portion of the statute.").

Because of the broad implications of the Court of Appeals' ruling to criminal motions practice generally, its precedential holding that rule-based notice and motion requirements are mere technicalities that may be disregarded is of substantial public interest, warranting review by this Court. Furthermore, because the case also presents the need to interpret the limits of the speedy trial deadline and to consider the court's authority with respect to pretrial detention, issues of significant public interest concerning criminal case administration are raised.

Concerning the first point, the speedy trial rule establishes that defendants must be brought to trial within a certain number of "days," but provides no definition of a "day" to establish the point at which the time for trial has expired. *See* CrR 3.3(b). The rule could mean a calendar day,

in which case the day ends at 11:59:59 p.m. The rule could mean a court day, in which case the day ends when the court closes for business, whenever that may be. Or, read pragmatically, the rule could mean that the day has ended when the court is no longer capable of acting. Because commencing a trial requires that a jury venire be present and available for selection, a day for trial should be interpreted as ending when the case is not called for trial and any jurors summoned to appear that day are released and unavailable to serve. *See* CrR 6.3. Interpreting the outside limits of the speedy trial deadline will be helpful in resolving future cases and therefore satisfied RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Concerning the second point, previous appellate decisions allowing the trial court to release a defendant from custody for the sole purpose of extending the time for trial disregards the standards established in CrR 3.2 for release decisions and interprets CrR 3.3 in a manner that excuses, rather than discourages, intransigence by the State. Under *State v. Chavez-Romero*, 170 Wn. App. 568, 578, 285 P.3d 195 (2012), *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013) and *State v. Kelly*, 60 Wn. App. 921, 928, 808 P.2d 1150 (1991), upon which *Chavez-Romero* relied, a trial court does not abuse its discretion when it orders a defendant released without a change in the circumstances that justified pretrial incarceration in the first instance, solely to extend the time for trial under CrR 3.3. Because this

interpretation conflicts with the language of CrR 3.2, minimizes the significance of ordering pretrial incarceration in the first instance, and interprets the speedy trial rule in a manner that sanctions State negligence, this Court should take the opportunity to evaluate these precedents.

In *Kelly*, on the final day for trial after its motion to continue the trial was denied, the State moved to release the defendant. 60 Wn. App. at 923. On appeal, the defendant argued that the trial court abused its discretion by ordering release for the sole purpose of extending the time for trial, without a showing of a change in circumstances under CrR 3.2. *Id.* at 926. Division I of the Court of Appeals rejected this argument, interpreting CrR 3.2 as permitting a court to consider courtroom congestion and the availability of witnesses in determining whether to grant pretrial release. *Id.* at 928. In *Chavez-Romero*, Division III of the Court of Appeals adopted the *Kelly* court's interpretation. 170 Wn. App. at 578.

This interpretation cannot be sustained by the language or purpose of CrR 3.2. It is presumed that criminal defendants are entitled to release on their own recognizance, and this presumption is only overcome when there is evidence that the defendant will not appear, will commit a violent crime, or will subvert the administration of his case by intimidating

witnesses or engaging in other unlawful acts. CrR 3.2(a). The *Kelly* court referred to language in the rule permitting the court to consider "the relevant facts including but not limited to ..." as permitting the court to consider non-enumerated factors including congestion and other impediments to trial. 60 Wn. App. at 926. But whether courtrooms are congested or witnesses may be unavailable have no bearing on whether a defendant will appear when he is ordered or commit crimes if he is released.

Furthermore, *Kelly*'s rationale discounts the reasons why pretrial incarceration was ordered in the first place by allowing those reasons to be ignored to facilitate prosecution. Because defendants are presumed entitled to release without conditions, and because their fundamental liberty interests are at stake when they are incarcerated without being convicted of a crime, specific factors implicating public safety or refusal to comply with court orders must be shown to justify the initial detention order. These factors do not dissipate simply because, for reasons not otherwise justifying recalculation of the speedy trial deadline, the State has failed to proceed diligently to try the case.

Moreover, the *Kelly* court's reasoning discourages the State from carefully considering in each individual case whether pretrial incarceration

should be recommended, in exchange for the obligation the State undertakes to try the case more quickly than when the defendant is released. Instead, the State is incentivized to simply pursue pretrial incarceration across the board and only seek release when the 60-day limit becomes too onerous and cannot otherwise be excused or extended under CrR 3.3's many exceptions. Conviction rates for individuals who are detained pretrial on a felony charge are nearly 1.5 times greater than for defendants who are released, likely in part because of the pressure pretrial incarceration places on a defendant to reach a plea bargain and secure his release rather than remain in jail to establish his innocence. See Cohen, Thomas H. and Reaves, Bryan A., Pretrial Release of Felony Defendants in State Courts, U.S. Dept. of Justice Bureau of Justice Statistics, Special Report (Nov. 2007) at 7, available online at https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/prfdsc.pdf (last visited January 17, 2019); see also Holland, Brooks, The Two-Sided Speedy Trial Problem, 90 Wash. L. Rev. Online 31 (2015), available online at https://www.law.uw.edu/wlr/online-edition/the-two-sided-speedy-trialproblem (last visited January 17, 2019).

Finally, the language of CrR 3.2 does not permit a court to amend an order establishing conditions for release except in the event of a "change of circumstances, new information or showing of good cause."

CrR 3.2(k). Logically, this is because a defendant who has been determined to be a flight risk or a potential danger to society continues to be a flight risk or a potential danger to society in the absence of new information or a change in circumstances. And, while the exception for "good cause" is broader, it is an extraordinary reading of "good cause" that would include amendment because the State's lack of diligence allowed the case to languish until mere hours before the time for trial expired.

Pretrial incarceration practices are under increasing scrutiny in Washington. In 2016, the Washington State Minority and Justice Commission hosted its annual symposium on the topic of pretrial incarceration. In 2017, Washington organizations, in partnership with the Minority and Justice Commission and the national Pretrial Justice Institute, organized a Pretrial Reform Task Force to study and evaluate reforms to policies and practices concerning pretrial incarceration. In this context of increased attention to the social costs of pretrial imprisonment, consideration by this Court of *Kelly*'s interpretation of CrR 3.2 is likely to be of significant public interest.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and this Court should enter a ruling that the trial court lacked authority to consider the State's motion to continue the trial or release Maling to extend the time for trial when the State failed to comply with CrR 8.1 and 8.2, that Maling's time for trial had already expired at the time of the State's motion, and that CrR 3.2 does not permit a trial court to release a defendant from custody for the sole purpose of extending the time for trial, overruling *Kelly* and *Chavez* and reversing and dismissing Maling's convictions.