FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/19/2019 11:17 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

# NO. 96763-6 (Court of Appeals NO. 35272-2-III)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

## JOHN MARTIN MALING, APPELLANT

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF YAKIMA COUNTY

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL J. ELLIS, WSBA #50393 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2<sup>nd</sup> Street, Room 233 Yakima, WA 98901-2621 (509) 574-1218

#

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

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4(b) states that:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

- A. Maling's CrR 8.2 claim is inappropriate for review as (1) the trial court did not abuse its discretion when entertaining the State's oral motion to release and (2) a technical, court rule focused argument does not satisfy RAP 13.4(b)
  - 1. As the State's motion was made orally during a hearing, CrR 8.2 does not mandate that the State first make its motion in writing

Maling argues that the State violated the CR 7(b) written motion requirement as incorporated by CrR 8.2. *See* Petition for Review at 9. Maling further contends that, due to the alleged CR 7(b) violation, the State acted contrary to CR 5(a) and CR 6(d). *See id*.

CrR 8.2 states that "[r]ules 3.5 and 3.6 and CR 7(b) shall govern motions in criminal cases." CrR 8.2. Under CR 7(b)(1),

[a]n application to the court for an order shall be by motion which, unless made during a hearing or trial, shall be made in writing, shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought. The requirement of writing is fulfilled if the motion is stated in a written notice of the hearing of the motion.

CR 7(b)(1). Further, CrR 8.4 states that "CR 5 shall govern service and filing of written motions . . . in criminal causes." CrR 8.4. CR 5(a) requires that "every written motion . . . shall be served upon each of the parties." CR 5(a). Finally, CrR 8.1 mandates that "[t]ime shall be computed and enlarged in accordance with CR 6." CrR 8.1. Under CR 6(d), "[a] written motion . . . and notice of the hearing thereof shall be served not later than 5 days before the time specified for the hearing." CR 6(d).

CR 7(b)(1) does not apply as the State's motion was "made during a hearing." *See* CR 7(b)(1); *see also Trust Fund Services v. Glasscar, Inc.*, 19 Wn. App. 736, 745, 577 P.2d 980 (1978) (noting that "CR 7(b) provides that motions which are not made during a hearing or trial are to be made in writing"). Accordingly, CR 7(b)(1) does not mandate that the State's motion first be made in writing. As the State was not required to

have brought the motion in writing, neither CR 5(a) nor CR 6(d) are applicable. *See* CR 5(a) (requiring "written motion[s]" to be served upon each party); CR 6(d) (mandating that "written motion[s] . . . shall be served not later than 5 days before the time specified for the hearing").

As the State's motion was made orally during a hearing, the State did not violate the Superior Court Criminal Rules. The State was not required to first make a written motion given the procedural posture and setting of the State's request. The trial court therefore did not abuse its discretion when entertaining the State's oral motion.

# 2. Maling's technical argument concerning the Criminal Rules notice requirement is not appropriate for review under RAP 13.4(b)

Maling argues that "the broad implications of the Court of Appeals' ruling to criminal motions practice generally" warrant review by this Court. Petition for Review at 10. Asserting that the Court of Appeals' decision "effectively allows the State to bypass written motion and notice requirements entirely by unilaterally calendaring the defendant's case for an unspecified hearing, and then presenting its motions orally," Maling claims that the decision below neuters any practical effect of the Criminal Rules. *See id.* at 9–10.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not constitute an "issue of substantial public interest" that warrants review by this Court. *See* 

RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals specifically raised the trial court's independent obligation under CrR 3.3(a)(1), noting that "[i]t shall be the responsibility of the court to ensure a trial in accordance with this rule to each person charged with a crime." *See Maling*, 431 P.3d at 500; CrR 3.3(a)(1). Contrary to Maling's assertion, CrR 3.3 uniquely places a burden on the trial court to ensure compliance. In keeping with CrR 3.3, the Court of Appeals concluded that technical violations of the Criminal Rules do not surmount the higher obligation of the trial court to administer justice in a timely manner.

Maling's interpretation of the Court of Appeals' decision leads to an unresolvable conflict with the trial court's obligation under CrR 3.3(a)(1). Under Maling's proposal, a trial court would be forced to decline its duty to monitor compliance with the time for trial rule if the State did not comply with the technical requirements of other Criminal Rules. The Criminal Rules cannot be subjected to an interpretation that risks mandating that trial courts abandon their obligation under CrR 3.3(a)(1).

As such, Maling's overbroad reading of the Court of Appeals' decision is not supported by the record. The Court of Appeals limited their analysis to situations regarding CrR 3.3, which uniquely among the Criminal Rules places a specific burden upon the trial court to monitor

compliance with time for trial limits. It is not within the public interest to compel a trial court to abdicate its obligations if other technical provisions are not strictly complied with. Maling has therefore failed to demonstrate that his CrR 8.2 argument involves an issue of "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b).

B. Maling has failed to demonstrate that *State v*. *Chavez-Romero*, 170 Wn. App. 568, 285 P.3d 195 (2012), and *State v. Kelly*, 60 Wn. App. 921, 808 P.2d 1150 (1991), are wrongly decided and deserving of review by this Court

Maling argues that *Chavez-Romero* and *Kelly* are wrongly decided and should be overruled. Petition for Review at 2–3. Specifically, Maling claims that both cases conflict with CrR 3.2, governing a defendant's release prior to trial. *Id.* at 12.

*Kelly* held that CrR 3.2 should be interpreted to neither compel absurd results nor reward defendants for disingenuous resistance to release. *Kelly*, 60 Wn. App. at 926–27. Critically, *Kelly* cited *People v*. *Sibley*, 41 Ill. App. 3d 616, 622, 354 N.E.2d 442, 447 (1976), for the proposition that "the creation and enforcement of constitutional and statutory rights for the protection of defendants cannot be used for manipulation 'in such a way as to provide an avenue to escape legitimate prosecution . . . ." *Kelly*, 60 Wn. App. at 928 (quoting *Sibley*, 41 Ill. App. 3d at 622).

Contrary to Maling's argument, *Kelly* grounded its analysis squarely within the confines of CrR 3.2. Maling's interpretation, similar to that put forth by the defendant in *Kelly*, would "frustrate" protecting the public, a central purpose underlying CrR 3.2. *Id.* at 927. As noted in *Kelly*,

[i]t would be a perversion of CrR 3.2 to hold that a court may not release a defendant to provide a trial within the 90-day limit, but rather must release him on the 60th day and dismiss the charge with prejudice simply because he was a defendant who had merited incarceration pending trial.

Id.

Further, CrR 3.2(k) permits modification of a defendant's conditions of release based on a "showing of good cause." CrR 3.2(k). In *Kelly*, the State moved to release the defendant as a critical witness would have been unavailable for trial within sixty days. *Kelly*, 60 Wn. App. at 923. Similarly, in *Chavez-Romero* it appears that the State moved to release the defendant as a witness was unavailable to testify for a suppression motion. *Chavez-Romero*, 170 Wn. App. at 573–74. Under Maling's proposal, the release of defendants for similarly legitimate reasons would violate CrRs 3.2 and 3.3, gifting the defendant undeserved relief from the pending criminal charge.

Under *Kelly* and *Chavez-Romero*, discretion ultimately lies with the trial court to release a defendant to extend time for trial under CrR 3.3. *See id.* at 578. Stripping the trial court of that discretion, as proposed by

Maling, would result in defendants avoiding otherwise legitimate prosecutions by disingenuously resisting release.

Accordingly, Maling has failed to demonstrate that revisiting *Kelly* and *Chavez-Romero* would substantially benefit the public. *See*RAP 13.4(b). Although reform of pretrial incarceration is under review both nationally and in Washington, the principle underlying *Kelly* and *Chavez-Romero* does not touch on the initial determination of conditions of release. Instead, the cases address a substantially different issue—a defendant's release, following pre-trial incarceration adhering to judicial application of CrR 3.2, to extend time for trial under CrR 3.3. Given the distinguishable procedural posture separating the initial pre-trial conditions of release decision from that involving the release of a defendant much later in the case, this Court should decline review and allow *Kelly* and *Chavez-Romero* to remain settled law.

C. Maling's proposed "pragmatic" definition of a "day" is not an appropriate subject for review by this Court as Maling's proposal would both be contrary to the term's common understanding and unworkable in practice

Maling argues that the sixtieth day of time for trial should be interpreted to have ended once "the case is not called for trial and any jurors summoned to appear are released and unavailable to serve." Petition for Review at 11. Maling urges the Court to adopt a "pragmatic" definition

of a "day," under which his time for trial would have expired prior to Maling's release. *See id*.

A generic "day" refers to "[a] period of time consisting of twentyfour hours" or "[t]he space of time which elapses between two successive midnights." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 396 (6th ed. 1990). This comports with the commonsense understanding of a "day"—a twenty-four hour period lasting from one midnight to the next. Although Maling argues that a "day" "under the speedy trial rule can be susceptible of various meanings," see Petition for Review at 11, Maling has not provided a reasonable basis for this Court to deviate from the everyday understanding of the term. See State v. Engel, 166 Wn.2d 572, 579, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009) ("A reading that produces absurd results should be avoided, if possible, because we presume the legislature does not intend them."); State v. McGee, 122 Wn.2d 783, 789, 864 P.2d 912 (1993) ("The rule of lenity does not require [a court] to reject an 'available and sensible' interpretation in favor of a 'fanciful or perverse' one.") (quoting Commonwealth v. Tata, 28 Mass. App. Ct. 23, 25–26, 545 N.E.2d 1179 (1989)).

Further, courts have consistently described the time for trial period in definitive terms. *See State v. Logan*, 102 Wn. App. 907, 912, 10 P.3d 504 (2000) (noting that time for trial rules are strictly applied); *State v.* 

Monson, 84 Wn. App. 703, 711, 929 P.2d 1186 (1997) (describing CrR 3.3 time for trial as ending at "the expiration of a fixed time"). Courts' utilization of consistently firm language weighs in favor of finding that time for trial expires at the conclusion of the final day, not the randomized and arbitrary point at which an official decides the State will no longer be able to proceed. A strict application counsels against Maling's proposal—how can a court strictly apply a concept that has a fluid deadline?

Additionally, Maling's proposed definition is unworkable and would result in disparate treatment for similarly situated defendants. When would a given defendant's time for trial period expire? Who would make that determination? Court systems might utilize different procedures for commencing a jury trial which may vary depending on the day of the week or time of year. Instead of a firm deadline, every time for trial period would be susceptible to alteration until the final twenty-four hour period expired. As above, a "strict" interpretation of time for trial rules counsels against Maling's proposed "pragmatic," yet malleable and nebulous, definition. *See Logan*, 102 Wn. App. at 912.

Maling has presented no reason to re-define a "day" from how the term is understood in common parlance—a full twenty-four hour period.

Accordingly, Maling has not demonstrated that this Court should address

his proposed "pragmatic" definition of a "day" as an issue of "substantial public interest." *See* RAP 13.4(b).

## VI. CONCLUSION

Maling has failed to satisfy any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). As such, Maling's petition for review should be denied.